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Amended Complaint-1-

Paul Alan Levy, pro hac vice
Public Citizen Litigation Group
1600  20th Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20009
(202) 588-1000
plevy@citizen.org

Catherine R. Gellis, California Bar #251927
P.O. Box 2477
Sausalito, California 94966
202-642-2849
cathy@cgcounsel.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

SAN JOSE DIVISION

CHRISTOPHER RECOUVREUR, )
)

Plaintiff, )
)

v. ) No. 3:12-cv-03435-RS
)

CHARLES CARREON, )
)

Defendant. )

AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY RELIEF

1.  This is an action for declaratory relief in which an individual seeks to protect his right to use the

domain name “charles-carreon.com” as the Internet address for a web site that uses satire to criticize a

California lawyer named Charles Carreon.  Defendant Carreon threatened to amend the complaint in a

separate lawsuit, No. 3:12-cv-03112-EMC, to include the site’s author as a defendant, on the theory that the

domain name infringes Carreon’s trademark and constitutes cybersquatting.  After counsel for the author

explained to Carreon that Ninth Circuit law protects the author’s right to register the domain name, Carreon

warned that he could sue the author for damages at any time in the next three years or more, and in a number

of different jurisdictions, while alleged damages would accrue.  Carreon also warned that the damages would

not be dischargeable in bankruptcy.  In other words, Carreon sought to intimidate the author into abandoning

his First Amendment rights through an explicit threat of meritless, expensive, and inconvenient litigation.

The author now asks the Court to declare that his domain name and accompanying web site do not violate

Carreon’s rights under the trademark laws, and that any trademark claims are forbidden by the First
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Amended Complaint-2-

Amendment.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2.  The Court has subject matter jurisdiction of this action under 15 U.S.C. §§ 1114(1),

1114(2)(D)(v) and  1121,  and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1337 and 1338.

3.  The Court has personal jurisdiction over defendant Charles Carreon because he is a member of

the California bar, because Carreon, when the original complaint was filed, was litigating a related case in

this Court, and because Carreon has told plaintiff that California is an appropriate jurisdiction for litigating

Carreon’s claims about the web site and its domain name.  Moreover, the web site that Carreon claims is

unlawful is hosted in this district. 

4.  Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2), because a substantial

part of the events giving rise to the claim occurred in this district.

PARTIES

5.   Plaintiff Christopher Recouvreur is a citizen of California who established an anonymous parody

web site criticizing Charles Carreon for his use of spurious demand letters and litigation to suppress free

speech on the Internet.  

6.  Defendant Charles Carreon is a lawyer who lives in Arizona but also belongs to the California

bar.

FACTS

A.  Background Facts

7.  This case arises out of a controversy between the operators of two web sites — “The Oatmeal,”

http://theoatmeal.com/, a site where cartoonist Matt Inman posts his work, and “funnyjunk,”

http://funnyjunk.com/, a site where various humorous materials appearing elsewhere on the Internet are

posted by funnyjunk’s own users.  In a blog post in mid-June 2011, Inman complained vociferously that too

much of his own copyrighted work was being hosted on funnyjunk, without his permission and to

funnyjunk’s financial benefit.

8.   On June 2, 2012, Charles Carreon, acting as counsel for funnyjunk, sent a letter to Inman

asserting that Inman’s June 2011 blog post was defamatory, claiming that Inman had committed various

other torts, and demanding payment of $20,000 in damages.
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Amended Complaint-3-

9.    Carreon’s letter received widespread attention, much of it very negative, in the online media.

10.  Seeking to poke fun at Carreon’s $20,000 demand, Inman announced a fundraising campaign

to raise $20,000 for charity.  The campaign has also drawn widespread attention, much of which further

expressed derision about Carreon.

11.  Acting pro se, Carreon filed suit in this Court against Inman, IndieGogo (the online fundraising

platform through which Inman conducted his campaign), and two charities, alleging a variety of torts.  Case

No. 3:12-cv-03112-EMC.   The lawsuit also alleged that an anonymous Twitter user had defamed Carreon

and violated his trademark by setting up a parody account in Carreon’s name, and that other anonymous

Internet users had violated Carreon’s rights in other ways.  That lawsuit has provoked further online

denunciations of Carreon.

B.  Recouvreur’s Web Site About Carreon

12.  Seeking to express disagreement with Carreon’s attacks on the free speech rights of his critics,

plaintiff registered the domain name www.charles-carreon.com, and began blogging at that domain name

about Carreon.  Each blog post was written in Carreon’s name, using exaggerated language that parodied

what plaintiff considered to be the excessive language and tone in Carreon’s demand letters and other

communications. A copy of the web site’s home page, as it appeared on June 25, 2012, is attached as Exhibit

A.  

13.  The web site was carefully designed to make clear its parodic nature.  The phrase “censorious

douchebag” appears both in the title tag on each page of the web site, which appears in the title bar of an

Internet user’s web browser, and as a banner heading at the top of each page of the web site.   The subtitle

of the web site is “The satirical diary about Charles Carreon.”  

14.  The “about” page on the web site begins with the following paragraph: “I am not the real Charles

Carreon. Charles Carreon is a character I play on this blog. Think of it as a giant internet soap opera. If you

don’t get the joke, I’m sorry.”  The web site provides the email address “satiricalcharles@gmail.com” for

users who wanted to contact plaintiff.  A copy of the “about” page is attached as Exhibit B.

15.  The web site originally featured a portion of a  photograph of Carreon.  However, after Carreon

claimed that he owned the copyright in that photograph, plaintiff replaced the photograph with a graphic of

a dinosaur and the legend: “This image has been censored.  Keep calm, don’t Carreon.”  A copy of the home
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Amended Complaint-4-

page as its appeared on June 28, 2012, is attached as Exhibit C.

16.  The domain name charles-carreon.com was registered with the domain name registrar

Register.com.

17.   Plaintiff’s web site is non-commercial, existing for the sole purpose of expressing plaintiff’s

views about Charles Carreon. 

18.   Plaintiff does not use the charles-carreon domain name in connection with sale or advertising

of goods or services.

19.   At no time did plaintiff offer the domain name charles-carreon.com for sale, or even hint that

she had any interest in selling the domain name.   Plaintiff is not in the business of selling domain names.

20.   Plaintiff has not registered any other domain name that contains the trademark of any other

person.

21.   Plaintiff’s web site is an obvious parody of Charles Carreon.  No person visiting the web site

could believe Charles Carreon himself owns or endorses the web site. 

22.    Plaintiff has no intent to profit from any Internet traffic intended for Charles Carreon’s web site,

or for his own web site.  Nothing is for sale on plaintiff's web site and no donations are solicited on

plaintiff’s web site.   Plaintiff’s web site does not include paid advertisements.

23.  Plaintiff makes fair use of the  trademark  Charles Carreon for the purpose of denominating the

subject of the web site and the target of his criticism.

C. Carreon’s Claims of Trademark Infringement and Threats of Litigation

24.  On June 21, 2012, Carreon sent a demand letter to Register.com, the registrar of the domain

name charles-carreon.com, asserting that, by registering the domain name charles-carreon.com and writing

blog posts in his name, plaintiff had infringed the trademark in Carreon’s name, and had engaged in

cybersquatting.  Carreon threatened to amend his complaint against Inman, No. 3:12-cv-03112-EMC, to

allege such claims against plaintiff, and warned Register.com that he would sue that company unless it

revealed plaintiff’s identity.  A copy of this letter is attached as Exhibit D.

25.  On June 22, 2012, counsel for plaintiff sent an email to Carreon, with a copy to register.com,

explaining why Carreon’s threatened claims were directly contrary to Ninth Circuit precedent and urging

Carreon not to sue plaintiff.  A copy of this email is attached as Exhibit E.
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Amended Complaint-5-

26.  On June 23, 2012, Carreon responded with an email warning that Carreon might sue Plaintiff

at any time in the next three years, waiting for a time when, he suggested, plaintiff’s pro bono counsel might

not be available.  He also warned that he would employ private counsel instead of suing pro se so that he

could seek an award of attorney fees, and that he would seek in excess of $100,000 in damages, which, he

asserted, might not be dischargeable in bankruptcy.  Carreon also stated, “I have the known capacity to

litigate appeals for years,” and warned that plaintiff could not be certain whether his pro bono counsel would

continue its representation throughout “such an extended course of litigation.”   A copy of this email is

attached as Exhibit F.  Carreon’s letter represented an attempt to intimidate plaintiff into surrendering his

First Amendment rights based on a threat of unpredictable, protracted, expensive, and burdensome litigation

based on meritless claims.

CAUSES OF ACTION FOR DECLARATORY RELIEF

27.  Plaintiff maintains that his current and prior uses of Charles Carreon’s name in her domain name

and in the text of his web site were at all times legal.  Defendant asserts that plaintiff’s actions were illegal.

28  Defendant’s actions have given rise to an actual and justiciable controversy pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

§ 2201 et seq.

29.  Plaintiff therefore seeks a declaratory judgment that he has not infringed any trademark nor

falsely designated any origin, that he is not in violation of Section 32 of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1114,

and that he is not in violation of Section 43 of the Lanham Act, subsections (a) or (d), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1125(a)

or (d).

30.  Plaintiff also seeks a declaratory judgment that he is not infringing under the law of any relevant

state, and that he has not engaged and is not engaging in unfair competition or otherwise in violation of any

common-law trademark rights or any other causes of action that defendant may allege through

counterclaims.

31.  Plaintiff further seeks a declaratory judgment that any claims that defendant might have had

under federal or state trademark laws are barred by the First Amendment and by principles of fair use,

including nominative use and parody.

WHEREFORE, plaintiff prays the court to enter a judgment in favor of plaintiff, and against defendant

Charles Carreon as follows: 
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Amended Complaint-6-

A.  Declaring that plaintiff’s domain name “charles-carreon.com,” plaintiff’s use of the domain

name, and plaintiff's use of his web site do not violate defendant’s rights under the Lanham Act or other

trademark law;

B.   Declaring that plaintiff’s use of the domain name “charles-carreon.com” is fair use and protected

under the First Amendment, and does not infringe on defendant’s mark;

C.  Declaring that defendant is not entitled to an injunction against plaintiff using the domain name

“charles-carreon.com” or operating the Web site located at the URL “www.charles-carreon.com”;

 D.  Awarding plaintiff his costs and reasonable attorney fees in this matter; and

 E.  Awarding such other relief as may be just and proper.

Respectfully submitted,

          /s/ Paul Alan Levy                                 
Paul Alan Levy (pro hac vice)
Julie Murray

  Public Citizen Litigation Group
  1600  20th Street, NW
  Washington, D.C. 20009
  (202) 588-1000

       /Catherine R. Gellis                                    
Catherine R. Gellis, California Bar #251927

   P.O. Box 2477
   Sausalito, California 94966
   202-642-2849
   cathy@cgcounsel.com

August 2, 2012  
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